
UNITED STATES INTERNATIONAL TRADE COMMISSION

_ Washington, D.C.

In the Matter of

CERTAIN WIRELESS STANDARD Inv. No. 337-TA-953 J
COMPLIANT ELECTRONIC DEVICES, '
INCLUDING COMMUNICATION
DEVICES AND TABLET COMPUTERS

ORDER NO. 43: DENYING AMENDED JOINT MOTION TO TERMINATE THE '
INVESTIGATION

(January 12, 2016)

On January 8, 2016, Complainants Ericsson Inc. and Telefonaktiebolaget LM Ericsson

(“Ericsson”) and Respondent Apple Inc. (“Apple”) jointly moved to terminate the Investigation '

based on E1icss0n’s withdrawal of the complaint pursuant to a license agreement (Motion

Docket No. 953-043, the “motion”).l The motion includes a request that access to the parties’

settlement agreement be limited to the Administrative Law Judge and certain other Commission

employees.2 On January 11, 2016, I issued Order No. 42 shortening the response time regarding

this request to limit access. The Commission Investigative Staff (“Staff”) filed a response on

January 12, 2016, supporting the motion to terminate, but stating that the public version of the

parties’ license agreement contains excessive redactions.

1The amended motion filed on January 8, 2016, replaces a motion to terminate previously filed
on December 29, 2015. The amended motion was initially placed on hold by the Secretary to the
Commission pending consultation with the Administrative Law Judge. I instructed the Secretary
to post the submission on EDIS so that the deficiencies described herein could be addressed on
the record. See USITC Handbook on Filing Procedures at 3 (Aug. 8, 2014) (“[I]n any conflict
between this Handbook and instructions issued by an Administrative Law Judge, the instructions
of the ALJ shall govern.”).

2The motion failed to include a certification pursuant to Ground Rule 3.2, but this failure is moot
in light of Staffs response and the denial of the motion on other grounds.



I. DISCUSSION_

The motion is hereby DENIED for three independent reasons: (1) The motion cites

Commission Rule 210.21(a)(1) as authority for termination, but this rule does not apply to

tenninations by settlement; (2) The motion fails to comply with the requirement that settlement

agreements concerning the subject matter of the investigation be filed with the motion; and

(3) The redactions in the public version of the license agreement that was filed are excessive.

' A. Termination by Settlement

Commission Rule 210.2 1(a)(l) provides:

(a) Motionsfor termination. (1) Any party may move at any time prior to
the issuance of an initial determination on violation of section 337 of the
Tariff Act of 1930 to terminate an investigation in whole or in part as to
any or all respondents, on the basis of withdrawal of the complaint or
certain allegations contained therein, or for good cause other than the
grounds listed in paragraph.(a)(2) of this section. ‘

19 C.F.R. § 2lO.2l(a)(1) (emphasis added). The referenced paragraph (a)(2) states:

Any party may move at any time to terminate an investigation in whole or
in part as to any or all respondents on the basis of a settlement, a
licensing or other agreement, including an agreement to present the
matter for arbitration, or a consent order, as provided in paragraphs (b), (c)
and (d) of this section.

19 C.F.R. § 21'0.21(a)(2) (emphasis added). The motion states that Ericsson and Apple seek

tennination of the Investigation on the basis of a Global Patent License Agreement, and as such,

the motion for termination should not be filed under Commission Rule 210.21(a)(1) but under

Connnission Rule 210.2102),which govems termination by settlement.

This issue was raised in Certain Radios and Components Thereoj‘,where the parties

similarly moved for termination under Commission Rule 21O.2l(a)(l) after reaching a settlement

agreement. lnv. No. 337-TA-476, Order No. 22 (Feb. 21, 2003). After the complainant

supplemented its motion with a copy of the parties’ settlement agreement, the Administrative
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Law Judge granted the motion for tennination but noted that “[t]he parties should have moved

for tennination pursuant to 19 C.F.R. § 210.21(b)(1) given that the basis for termination was a

settlement agreement.” la’. at 6. The 2008 amendment to Commission Rule 2l0.21(a)(1)

confinns that tenninations by settlement should be pursued under Commission Rule 2l0.2l(b).

This amendment added the following language, inter alia, to Commission Rule 210.21(a)(1):

A motion for termination of an investigation based on withdrawal of the
' complaint shall contain a statement that there are no agreements, written
or oral, express or implied between the parties conceming the subject
matter of the investigation . . . .

19 C.F.R. § 21O.2l(a)(l). See 73 Fed. Reg. 38322-23 (July 7, 2008). The notice ofproposed

rulemaking explained that this amendment was implemented to prevent parties from “reach[ing]

a settlement agreement and then keep[ing] the agreement secret by having the complainant move

to tenninate the investigation based on withdrawal of the complaint.” 72 Fed. Reg. 72286 (Dec.

20, 2007). Accordingly, the parties are hereby ordered to re-file their motion pursuant to

Commission Rule 210.210»)?

B. Filing of Settlement Agreement

Commission Rule 21O.21(a)(l) further provides: “if there are any agreements concerning

the subject matter of the investigation, all such agreements shall be identified, and if written, a

copy shall be filed with the Commission along with the motion.” 19 C.F.R. § 2lO.2l(a)(l).

Similarly, Commission Rule'2l0.21(b)(1) provides: “The motion for termination by settlement

shall contain copies of the licensing or other settlement agreements, any supplemental

agreements, any documents referenced in the motion or attached agreements . . . .” 19 C.F.R. .

3Even if parties could pursue tennination by settlement agreement under Commission Rule
210.21(a)(1), the rule provides that “[t]he presiding administrative law judge may grant the
motion in an initial determination upon such terms and conditions as [s]he deems proper.” 19
C.F.R. § 210.21(a)(1). In accordance with this provision, I will consider the motion according to
the requirements of Commission Rule 2l0.2l(b) regardless of which rule the parties cite.
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§ 2lO.2l(b)(l). Ericsson and Apple identify a license agreement as Physical Exhibit A in the

motion, but this exhibit was not filed with the motion. Instead, the moving parties served the

license agreement on the Administrative Law Judge and certain other Commission employees.

Motion at 2. This service does not qualify as a proper filing pursuant to Commission Rule

21O.4(t)(4),which requires that, except for certain documents related to the complaint and

response thereto, “all other documents shall be filed electronically.” 19 C.F.R. § 2l0.4(t)(4).

The parties in Certain Base Stations and WirelessMicrophones pursued a similar course

of action in 2009, submitting copies of their settlement agreements only to the Administrative

Law Judge and the Commission Investigative Staff, and the motion was denied for failure to

comply with Commission Rule 2lO.2l(b). Inv. No. 337-TA-653, Order No. 22 (Feb. 18, 2009).

In Certain Portable Electronic Devices and Related Software, an investigation where Apple was

the complainant, the parties filed a confidential version of their settlement agreement that left

certain terms redacted. Inv. No. 337-TA-797, Order No. 73 at 1-2 (Nov. 27, 2012). The

Administrative Law Judge denied the parties’ motion to terminate, finding that the “movants

have not raised any specific confidentiality concerns pertaining to this Investigation or the

settlement agreement here that would justify unique treatment of the confidential settlement

tenns in this Investigation.” Id. at 4.4 In the present Investigation, Ericsson and Apple have

4 In Certain Portable Electronic Devices, the Administrative Law Judge further found that
consideration of the tuiredacted agreement Wasnecessary to evaluate whether the settlement
complied with the Commission Rules, specifically Commission Rule 2l0.5O(b)(2), which
requires that the Administrative Law Judge “consider and make appropriate findings in the initial
determination regarding the effect of the proposed settlement on the public health and welfare,
competitive conditions in the U.S. economy, the production of like or directly competitive
articles in the United States, and U.S. consumers.” Inv. No. 337-TA-797, Order No. 73 at 4
(citing 19 C.F.R. § 210.50(b)(2)). Consideration of unredacted agreements is also necessary
under Commission Rules 2l0.2l(a)(l) and 2lO.2l(b)(l), which require that there be “no [other]
agreements, written or oral, express or implied between the parties concerning the subject matter
ofthe investigation.” 19 C.F.R. §§ 2l0.2l(a)(l), 2l0.21(b)(1).
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similarly failed to provide any reason to deviate from this procedure, stating only that “good

cause exists,” without identifying any basis for this purported good cause.5

. Rather than comply with Commission Rules, Ericsson and Apple have followed their

own procedure and further request that access to their agreement be limited to certain specific

Commission employees. Motion at 2. As noted by the Staff, the proposed limitation is unduly

restrictive. Staff Resp. at 3 n.2, 5-6. Moreover, the moving parties have failed to explain how

their proposed procedure provides any additional protection for their confidential information

beyond that provided in the Commission Rules, which restrict access to officers and employees

of the Commission Whoare “directly concerned with .. . [c]arrying out or maintaining the records

of the investigation or related proceeding for which the information was submitted.” 19 C.F.R.

§ 21O.5(b)(2)(i).6 Having identified no basis for their noncompliance with the Commission

Rules, Apple and Ericsson are hereby ORDERED to re-file their motion to terminate with an

miredacted copy of their license agreement attached.

5 In Certain Portable Electronic Devices and Related Software, Apple later filed an unredacted
confidential version of its settlement agreement. Inv. No. 337-TA-797, Order No. 75 (Dec. 13,
2012). Similarly, Ericsson has filed confidential settlement agreements in motions to terminate
previous investigations. See, e.g., Certain Electronic Devices, Including Wireless
Communication Devices, Tablet Computers, Media Players, and Components There0]', Inv. No.
337-TA-862, Order No. 70 (Jan. 29, 2014), unrev’d by Comm’n, 79 Fed. Reg. 9279 (Feb. 18,
2014). In addition, in the present Investigation, Ericsson filed numerous confidential license
agreements with its complaint pursuant to Commission Rule 210.12(a)(9)(iv). See Confidential
Exhibit 69C to Complaint (filed Mar. 17, 2015). Ericsson and Apple have made no effort to
distinguish their present license agreement from the numerous other agreements they have
previously filed pursuant to the Commission Rules.

6Apple and Ericsson apparently believe that serving a limited number of paper copies will better
protect their confidential information, but the security of these copies ultimately relies upon
Commission employees’ compliance with Rule 21O.5(b)(2)(i), whether documents are paper or
electronic. Moreover, it is ironic that by serving copies upon multiple employees at the
Commission, Apple and Ericsson have ensured that paper copies of their unredacted license
agreement will sit in the files of Commission employees for a much longer period of time than if
the agreement had been filed electronically and paper copies were only printed (if at all) when
the relevant employees needed to review the agreement.
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C. Public Version of Settlement Agreement

Commission Rules 210.21(a)(l ) and 2l0.21(b)(1) further provide:

If the [licensing or other settlement] agreement contains confidential
business information within the meaning of § 201.6(a) of this chapter, at
least one copy of the agreement with such infonnation deleted shall
accompany the motion, in addition to a copy of the confidential version.

19 C.F.R. §§ 210.21(a)(1), 210.21(b)(1). The public version of the parties’ license agreement

that was filed as Exhibit B fails to comply with this rule because the parties’ redactions include

infonnation beyond the definition of confidential business information set forth in Commission '

Rule 201.6(a)( 1). 19 C.F.R. § 201.6(a)(1). In Certain Products Containing Interactive Program

Guide and Parental Guide and Parental Controls Technology,the Commission remanded a

termination based on settlement because the parties had made redactions that were “not restricted

to the types of confidential business information set forth in Commission Rule 201.6.” Inv. No.

337-TA-820, C0mm’n Order (Jan. 29, 2013) (“Parental Controls Technology”); see also Certain

Wireless Devices, Including Mobile Phones and Tablets III, Inv. No. 337-TA-942, Comm’n

Notice at 2 (June 15, 2015) (reviewing an initial determination based on a settlement agreement

because “the redactions are not restricted to the types of confidential business information set

forth in Commission Rule 201.6.”). In response to the remand in Parental Controls Technology,

the parties submitted revised public versions of their settlement agreement with declarations

from cotmsel stating that disclosure of specific provisions of the agreement “would cause

substantial harm to the competitive position of Complainants with respect to non-settling

respondents and other potential licensees.” Inv. No. 337-TA-820, Renewed Joint Motion for

Tennination, Exhibit 2 at 1]6, Motion Docket No. 820-O55 (Feb. 13, 2013); see also ia’.,Exhibit

3 at 1]6 (disclosure “Would cause substantial harm to the competitive position of [Respondent]

with respect to non-settling respondents and/or competitors of [Respondent].” ). The re
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submitted public version of the parties’ settlement agreement thus issued with only selected

sections redacted, and the majority of the agreement was available for public review. See id.,

Exhibit 1.

Here, as noted by Staff, the parties have redacted the majority of their license agreement.

Staff Resp. at 3. These redactions include several paragraphs of the preamble and definitions

that contain no apparent confidential information, and include information that has already been

made public. Id. at 3. In addition, the parties have redacted the critical license portions of the

agreement that indicate whether the agreement resolves the underlying disputes in this

' Investigation. Such redactions deprive the public of the basis for understanding the result and

reasoning of any order addressing the tennination of the Investigation. See In re Violation of

Rule 28(d), 635 F.3d 1352, 1360 (Fed. Cir. 2011) (recognizing “the strong presumption of public

access to court proceedings and records” and finding redactions particularly inappropriate when

“the non-confidential version of the [document] is virtually incomprehensible”); see also Lelo

Inc. v. Int’! Trade Comm ’n, 786 F.3d 879, 882 n.3 (Fed. Cir. 2015) (“This Court has repeatedly

explained that over-marking information as confidential places significant limits on this Court's

ability to address the relevant issue in a public opinion.”).7 The redactions to the license

agreement must be significantly more limited to comply with Commission Rule 210.21.

Accordingly, Apple and Ericsson are hereby ORDERED to re-file their motion to

terminate with a revised public version that only includes redactions in compliance with

Commission Rules.8

7The review of Commission decisions by the Federal Circuit and other authorities underscores
the need to file unredacted copies of license agreements into the record. Such review would not
be possible if agreements were merely served on certain employees of the Commission.

8If the re-submitted redactions remain excessive, the parties may be required to submit
declarations supporting their redactions from individuals with personal knowledge, justifying
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II. CONCLUSION

Accordingly, Motion Docket No. 953-O43is DENIED. Apple and Ericsson are hereby

ORDERED to re-file their motionto terminate by the close of business on Tuesday, January 19,

2016, in compliance with this Order.

S0 ORDERED.

E66 i—19’Yw4-/
Dee Lord

_ Administrative Law Judge

each proposed redaction and specifically explaining Whythe infonnation sought to be redacted
meets the definition for confidential business information set forth in Commission Rule 201.6(a)
These declarations will be reviewed for compliance with the Commission Rules, and redactions
of information that fall outside of Commission Rule 201.6(a) will not be implemented.
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CERTAIN WIRELESS STANDARD COMPLIANT Inv. N0. 337-TA-953
ELECTRONIC DEVICES, INCLUDING
COMMUNICATION DEVICES AND TABLET
COMPUTERS ‘

PUBLIC CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE _

I, Lisa R. Barton, hereby certify that the attached ORDER has been served by hand upon
the Commission Investigative Attorneys, R. Whitney Winston, Esq. and Yoncha Kundupoglu,
Esq., and the following parties as indicated, on

JAN 1 3 2015 T LisaR. B n, Secretary
U.S. International Trade Commission
500 E Street, SW, Room 112
Washington, DC 20436

On Behalf of Complainants Ericsson Inc. and
Telefonaktiebolaget LM Ericsson:

Thomas L. Jarvis, Esq. U Via'Hand Delivery
WINSTON & STRAWN LLP U Via Express Delivery
1700 K Strefit’NW EQ/ia First Class Mail
Washington, DC 20006 1:‘ other

On Behalf of Respondent Apple Inc.: .

Nina S. Tallon, Esq. E] Via Hand Delivery
WILMER CUTLER PICKERING HALE & DORR LLP |:| Via ExpressDelivery
1875 Pennsylvania Ave" NW §3'l.ViaFirst Class Mail
Washington, DC 20006 U other


